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PER CURI AM *

Def endant - appel | ant Jose Guadal upe Mol ina appeals his
j udgnent of conviction and sentence, arguing that: (1) the
district court erred by denying his request for a mtigating role
adj ust nent under U. S. SENTENCI NG GUI DELI NES MANUAL § 3Bl. 2 (2003)
[ hereinafter U S.S.G]; (2) the district court erred by

sentenci ng hi munder the mandatory Cuidelines, in violation of

Pursuant to 5THGR R 47.5, the court has determ ned
that this opinion should not be published and is not precedent
except under the limted circunstances set forth in 5TH QR R
47.5. 4.
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United States v. Booker, 543 U. S. 220 (2005); and (3) the

statutes under which he was convicted, 21 U S.C. 88 841 and 846,
are unconstitutional. For the follow ng reasons, we AFFIRMthe
district court’s judgnent of conviction and VACATE and REMAND f or
resent enci ng.
| . FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On Novenber 1, 2003, four border patrol agents responded to
a sensor activated on the Dol ores Ranch in Laredo, Texas and set
up surveillance in the area.! Agents Marco Lara and Duke
Canchol a were stationed on the ground, and the other two agents
remained in their marked vehicle. Agent Lara notified the other
agents that he saw a man wal ki ng across the ranch, |ater
identified as the defendant-appell ant Jose Guadal upe Ml i na.
Agent Lara then observed a second man approach Ml ina, and after
the two nen spoke with each other and scanned the area, Mdlina
began wal ki ng toward Agent Canchol a’s undetected position on the
ground. Agents Lara and Canchol a al so observed approximately ten
i ndividuals carrying duffel bags on their backs, who appeared to
be follow ng Mlina.?

Once Mol ina approached Agent Canchol a’s position, he was

arrested. Around the tine Agent Canchola was arresting Ml ina,

! The sensor alerts agents to possible drug trafficking or
illegal aliens crossing the border.

2 Agent Canchola testified that Modlina appeared to be
scouting the area for |aw enforcenent.
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the individuals wwth the duffel bags dropped their bundles and
fled. Agent Lara arrested a nman in the group who was not
carrying any narcotics, later identified as Gerardo Mendez-
Sanchez. Al though the agents did not arrest any of the

i ndividuals carrying the narcotics, they recovered ten duffel
bags, which contai ned approxi mately 239.72 kil ograns of

mar i j uana.

Mol i na and Mendez- Sanchez were advised of their Mranda
rights, and both agreed to nake statenents to the agents. Mdlina
told the agents that his job was to go north of the narcotics
| oad-up area and watch for law enforcenent. |In addition to
receiving his statenent, the agents seized the cell phone that
Mol i na had been carrying in a plastic bag. The cell phone screen
di spl ayed the word “nula,” slang for nule or courier in Spanish.
In his statenent to the agents, Mendez- Sanchez expl ained that his
job was to erase the footprints left in the grass by those
carrying the narcotics. He also told the agents that Mlina was
a scout for the drug operation.

On Novenber 18, 2003, Modlina and Mendez- Sanchez were charged
in atw-count indictnment with: (1) conspiracy to possess wth
intent to distribute nore than 100 kil ogranms of marijuana, in
violation of 21 U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1), (b)(1)(B), and 846; and (2)
possession with intent to distribute nore than 100 kil ograns of
marijuana, in violation of 18 U S.C §8 2 and 21 U S. C
8§ 841(a)(1), (b)(1)(B). Pursuant to a witten plea agreenent,
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Mendez- Sanchez pleaded guilty to the possession count. Mlina

pl eaded not guilty, and his case proceeded before a jury. At
Molina s trial, Mendez-Sanchez testified as a governnent w tness
that the group was following Mdlina and that Ml ina was acting as
a guide. On January 14, 2004, a jury found Mdlina guilty of both
counts in the indictnment.

In the Presentence Report (“PSR’), the probation officer
recommended a base offense level of 26, using U S S G
8§ 2D1.1(c)(7), for an offense involving at |east 100 kil ograns of
marijuana. After concluding that Mlina was a manager or
supervisor in the drug conspiracy pursuant to U S. S G
8§ 3Bl.1(b), the probation officer recomended adding three |evels
to arrive at a total offense level of 29. Wth Mdlina s crimnal
hi story category of |, the recommendation resulted in a guideline
i nprisonnment range of 87 to 108 nont hs.

Mol i na objected to the PSR, disputing the three-|evel
aggravating role adjustnent under U S.S.G § 3Bl1.1(b) and
requesting a mniml or mnor role adjustnment pursuant to
US S G 8§ 3Bl1.2(a)-(b). In an addendumto the PSR, the
probation officer maintained that Mdlina acted as a supervisor or
manager of the drug conspiracy, thus warranting the three-|evel
i ncrease. The probation officer also recormmended denyi ng the
rol e adj ustnent under either 8§ 3Bl.2(a) or (b) because she
concluded that Molina s role in the drug conspiracy was “[i]n no

way . . . mnimal or mnor.”



At sentencing, Mdlina re-urged his objections, this tine

citing Blakely v. Washington, 542 U. S. 296 (2004), in support of

his contention that the aggravating rol e adjustnment under
US S G 8 3Bl.1(b) was not warranted because there was no jury
finding that he had a managerial or supervisory role in the drug
conspiracy. He also argued that he should receive a mtigating
rol e adj ustnment pursuant to U.S.S.G § 3B1.2(a)-(b), given that
his role in the conspiracy was m ni mal or m nor.

The district court found that the facts did not support a
t hree-1 evel enhancenent for Mdlina's role in the offense and
therefore did not apply the aggravating role adjustnment. The
district court denied Mdlina s request for a downward adjustnent,
finding that Molina was “clearly not just one of the nules.”
After re-calculating Molina' s total offense |evel as 26, the
district court determned that the guideline inprisonnent range
was sixty-three to seventy-eight nonths. [In sentencing Mlina,
the district court stated:

"’ mgoing to sentence you at that |ower |evel, 26. But

| am going to sentence you around the mddle, slightly
above the m ddl e, because of the weight of the marijuana,

first of all. And because, as | say, you' re clearly not
just one of the nules. So |I’mgoing to sentence you to
72 nmonths. Wen you get out, you wll be on supervised

rel ease for five years.
Molina filed this tinely notice of appeal.
1. DI SCUSSI ON

A Mtigating Role Adjustnment Under U S.S.G § 3Bl1.2



Mol i na argues that he should have received a downward
adj ustment under U.S.S.G 8§ 3Bl.2 because there is no evidence
showi ng that he had a role in coordinating the drug snuggling or
t hat he knew anyt hi ng about who supplied the marijuana or where
it was to be delivered. According to Molina, his limted role of
scouting the area for |aw enforcenent and serving as a guide
supports his contention that the district court erred in denying
hima mtigating role adjustnent.

Under U.S.S.G 8§ 3Bl1.2, a district court may reduce a
defendant’s offense |l evel by four levels if the defendant was a
“mnimal participant” in the crimnal activity or by two | evels
if the defendant was a “mnor participant.” U S. S.G § 3Bl.2(a)-

(b); United States v. Virgen-Mreno, 265 F.3d 276, 296 (5th Cr.

2001). “Such an adjustnent is ‘generally appropriate only if a
defendant is substantially |ess cul pable than the average

participant.’” Virgen-Mreno, 265 F.3d at 296 (quoting United

States v. Flucas, 99 F.3d 177, 181 (5th Cir. 1996)); see also

U.S.S.G § 3BL.2 cnt. n.3(A).

As the commentary points out, the decision of whether to
apply 8 3Bl1.2(a) or (b) “involves a determnation that is heavily
dependent upon the facts of the particular case.” U S. S G
§ 3B1.2 cnt. n.3(C) (noting that the court “is not required to
find, based solely on the defendant’s bare assertion, that such a
role adjustnment is warranted”). Gven this fact-intensive
inquiry, we will not reverse the district court’s finding that
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Mol i na’s conduct did not warrant the downward adj ustnment unless

that finding is clearly erroneous. See Virgen-Mreno, 265 F. 3d

at 296. “A factual finding is not clearly erroneous if it is

pl ausible in light of the record read as a whole.” United States

v. Villanueva, 408 F.3d 193, 203 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 126 S

Ct. 268 (2005); see also Anderson v. Bessener Cty, 470 U S. 564,
573-74 (1985) (“If the district court’s account of the evidence
is plausible in light of the record viewed in its entirety, the
court of appeals may not reverse it even though convinced that
had it been sitting as the trier of fact, it would have wei ghed
the evidence differently.”).

The district court’s finding that Mdlina was “clearly not
just one of the nules” is supported by the record. Mdlina
admtted to the border patrol agents that he was scouting the
area for |law enforcenent, which neans that his crimnal activity
was not confined to “nule” or courier status. Additionally,
Mendez- Sanchez testified that the individuals carrying the
bundl es of marijuana were follow ng Mdlina and that Mlina was

acting as a guide. See United States v. Pofahl, 990 F.2d 1456,

1485 (5th Gr. 1993) (holding that there was no clear error in
the district court’s finding that the defendant’s role was not
m nimal or mnor where the defendant’s “role was not confined to

that of a mule”); see also United States v. Bethley, 973 F.2d

396, 401 (5th Cr. 1992) (stating that “a ‘mule’ or transporter
of drugs may not be entitled to mnor or mninmal status”). The
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district court also considered the weight of the marijuana
involved in this case in denying Mdlina s request. Qur case |aw
supports such a consideration in denying an adjustnent under

US S. G 8§ 3Bl 2. See United States v. Leal - Mendoza, 281 F. 3d

473, 477 (5th Cr. 2002) (concluding that the district court did
not clearly err in refusing an adjustnent where the defendants
were paid a substantial sum of noney and noved a | arge quantity

of drugs); see also United States v. Rodriguez De Varon, 175 F.3d

930, 943 (11th Gr. 1999) (en banc) (stating that drug quantity
may be the best indication of a drug courier’s participation in
the crimnal activity). Based on our review of the record inits
entirety, we hold that the district court did not clearly err in
refusing Mdlina an adjustnent pursuant to U S.S.G § 3B1. 2.
B. Sent enci ng Under Mandatory Cui deli nes

Al t hough Mdlina contends that the district court conmtted
Booker error by sentencing himunder the mandatory Qui delines, he
concedes that he failed to raise this issue before the district
court and therefore plain-error review applies. The governnent
correctly notes that this case involves Fanfan error, and not
Booker error, because Mlina is conplaining only about the
district court’s mandatory application of the Guidelines.® See

United States v. Walters, 418 F. 3d 461, 463 (5th Gr. 2005)

3 This case does not involve Booker error because Mdlina
stipulated to the anmount of drugs involved in his offense, and
drug quantity was the only fact that the district court used to
i ncrease Molina' s sentence.
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(di scussing the difference between Booker and Fanfan error).
Wth regard to Molina s suggested standard of review, the
governnent readily accepts plain error as the appropriate
bl ueprint for this case.

As an initial matter, we observe that we are not bound by
Mol i na’ s concessions--or the governnent’s acceptance of those
concessi ons--because it is this court, and not the parties, that

determ nes the proper standard of review See United States V.

Vont st een, 950 F.2d 1086, 1091 (5th Gr. 1992) (en banc) (“[No
party has the power to control our standard of review . . . If
neither party suggests the appropriate standard, the review ng

court nust determ ne the proper standard on its own”) (internal

citation omtted); see also St. Tanmany Parish Sch. Bd. v.

Loui si ana, 142 F.3d 776, 782 (5th Gr. 1998) (“Of course, we, not
the parties, determne the proper standard of review”).

Qur review of the record reveals that Mlina made a Bl akely
objection in the district court, thereby preserving Fanfan error

for harm ess-error review. See United States v. Rodriguez-Mesa,

--- F.3d ----, 2006 W. 633280, at *5 (5th Cr. M. 15, 2006)
(stating that the defendant preserves Fanfan error by raising a
Bl akel y objection in the district court). Under harm ess-error
review, we will normally vacate and remand for resentencing

unl ess the governnment can prove that the error was harnl ess

beyond a reasonable doubt. United States v. Mares, 402 F.3d 511

520 n.9 (5th Cr.) (stating that if the issue presented in Fanfan
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is preserved, this court will vacate and remand unl ess the error

is harm ess under FED. R CRM P. 52(a)), cert. denied, 126 S. Ct.

43 (2005). “[T]he governnment nust shoul der the heavy burden of
denonstrating that the district court would not have inposed a

different sentence under the advisory reginme--in essence, the

[ g] over nnent nmust prove a negative.” United States v. Wods, ---
F.3d ----, 2006 W. 325262, at *3 (5th Cr. Feb. 13, 2006); see

also United States v. Akpan, 407 F.3d 360, 377 (5th Cr. 2005)

(stating that the governnent nust “prove beyond a reasonabl e
doubt that the district court would not have sentenced [the
defendant] differently had it acted under an advisory Cuidelines
regine”).

We have reviewed the record in its entirety, and there is
nothing in the record indicating that the district court would
not have sentenced Mdlina differently under advisory Cuidelines.
In fact, the district court judge did not make any statenent at
sent enci ng regardi ng what he woul d have done under an advi sory
sentencing regine. Under the harml ess-error standard, “[t]he
judge’s silence as to whether or not he woul d have inposed a
different sentence under an advisory regi ne does not satisfy

th[e] [governnent’s] burden.” United States v. Pineiro, 410 F. 3d

282, 286 (5th Cr. 2005). Accordingly, we nust vacate Mlina’s
sentence and remand for further proceedings.

C. Constitutionality of 21 U.S.C. 88 841(a), 841(b), 846
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Finally, Mdlina argues, for the first tinme on appeal, that
the statutes under which he was convicted, 21 U S.C. 88 841(a),

841(b), and 846, are facially unconstitutional under Apprendi V.

New Jersey, 530 U S. 466 (2000). As he correctly concedes, this

claimis foreclosed by circuit precedent. See United States V.

Sl aughter, 238 F.3d 580, 582 (5th Cr. 2000) (“We see nothing in
the Suprenme Court decision in Apprendi which would permt us to
conclude that 21 U S.C. 88 841(a) and (b), 846, and 860(a) are
unconstitutional on their face.”).
[11. CONCLUSI ON
For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM Mol ina s judgnent of
conviction as inposed by the district court, and VACATE and

REMAND for resentencing in accordance with this opinion.
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